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In the long-running television programme Bargain Hunt, auctioneer Charles Hanson, one of the experts who advises the contestants on whether they should buy a chosen object, often says of a piece of porcelain or glass, ‘If only it could speak . . . what a story it could tell.’ And the same is true of a street, particularly one in central London, which has had history pass through it, in some cases, for over a thousand years.


Areas have changed dramatically over the years. Some have flourished while others have sunk, only to be revived. Saffron Hill is one, and Covent Garden another. Who, now, would have thought that the first derived its name from the saffron grown there? It became a very unhealthy area until the 1960s when, with a property boom, it began a revival which continues to this day. From the eighteenth century, Covent Garden, along with Seven Dials, was a dangerous slum until after the Second World War, its rejuvenation beginning when the fruit market was relocated. Old Compton Street, once the home of the Italian racecourse gangs, has been transformed into a predominantly gay and welcoming area. Chinatown was only born in the 1960s.


On the streets themselves, many changes have taken place. Tourists may no longer feed the pigeons in Trafalgar Square; gone are the flower sellers who used to sit at the statue of Eros in Piccadilly Circus; no longer can fire-engines from the fire station in Shaftesbury Avenue go round the wrong side of the statue to get to a blaze. The Street Offences Act 1956 cleared the working girls, wearing their hats and gloves, off the pavements in Soho and Coventry Street. And twenty or thirty years ago, there used to be conmen swindling tourists with ‘Find the Lady’ or the ‘Three Card Trick’. Now the police have cleared them off the streets too.


In the 1950s, with the revival of traditional jazz, there used to be a little band called The Happy Wanderers who could be found busking on the pavement edge in Oxford Street and Charing Cross Road playing old Dixieland numbers. Now, buskers themselves have almost vanished from the streets. At the Trafalgar Square end of the Charing Cross Road, there used to be a pavement artist who recreated the Mona Lisa in chalk; in Leicester Square, outside the Empire Cinema, there was an escapologist who was tied in chains and put in a sack. Now, in Oxford Street, there is a man who creates a sand dog. In Covent Garden, there are various street performers a few steps away from the Underground station. Fashions have changed, and buildings along with them.


There is no longer any enthusiasm for the 100-frame billiard and snooker matches of the first half of the twentieth century, when many a happy and idle afternoon could be spent watching the legendary Joe Davis and the Australian Walter Lindrum make endless cannons around the table. So Thurston’s Hall in Leicester Square has gone, making way for an addition to Fanum House, the London headquarters of the Automobile Association. At 19 Soho Square, the other great snooker venue, Burroughes Hall, went the same way in 1967 and is now another office block.


Some things are not as they might seem. The Law Courts may look as though they were built centuries ago, and the same applies to Tower Bridge. In fact, the Law Courts are not Gothic architecture but Gothic revival and were built in the late nineteenth century. Similarly, Tower Bridge was opened in 1894, and at one time its high-level, open walkways were a haunt of prostitutes and pickpockets, rather like Burlington Arcade of a century and a half ago.


Over the years, houses have been pulled down and rebuilt, theatres and cinemas have come and gone. For example, the Tivoli at 68 The Strand was first a restaurant and beer garden before becoming a music hall and then a cinema, where the silent Ben Hur with Ramon Novarro was first shown and where Samuel Goldwyn premièred the first British talkie, Bulldog Drummond, starring Ronald Colman. It eventually closed in 1957 and was demolished and replaced by a department store, which itself was later converted into New South Wales House for the Australian Government. In turn, in the late 1990s, New South Wales House was replaced by an office block. Lyons’ Corner Houses, the quintessentially English establishments for tea and cake, have also vanished.


Even if they still stand, many theatres have had their names changed along with their ownership. The Gielgud Theatre in Shaftesbury Avenue when it opened in 1906 was the Hicks Theatre, named after the actor Seymour Hicks, before it became the Globe in 1909 and the Gielgud in 1994.


The inhabitants of London’s buildings have also come and gone. Appropriately, the wrestler, painter, actor and sculptor Sam Rabin’s ‘Past’ and ‘Future’ winged masks remain on the Daily Telegraph building in Fleet Street. The futuristic Daily Express building, designed in 1932, almost next door still stands, but neither now houses the journalists of the pre- and immediate post-war years. The shift of the newspapers from Fleet Street has also meant a change in the clientele of El Vino’s just up the road, which from lunch until early evening would be inhabited by journalists who, by 6.00 p.m., had poured out to make way for the barristers who took over. There, until the 1980s, women were prohibited from standing at the bar and men had to wear ties. Times and manners change.


This book, then, is a collection of tales these central London streets would tell if they could talk – about the people who lived and worked in them and of their deaths; of murderers and tricksters, of urban legends, and of events which have led to changes in the law. And for those with the inclination to immerse themselves in up to a thousand years of London’s history, many of these walks can be accomplished in an hour, some in even less time.


James Morton, August 2017





CHAPTER ONE



Old and New Compton Streets
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The streets were named after Henry Compton who raised funds for a local parish church, eventually dedicated as St Anne’s Church in 1686. Running from Wardour Street in the west to the Charing Cross Road as its eastern boundary, Old Compton Street has long been the heart of Soho.
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1. OLD AND NEW COMPTON STREETS


1.   Emma Hamilton, corner of New Compton Street and Stacey Street, Covent Garden.


2.   Fullado Club, 6 New Compton Street, Covent Garden, WC2H.


3.   Premier Club, New Compton Street, Soho.


4.   King’s Head, Old Compton Street, Soho.


5.   The York Minster, 49 Dean Street, Soho, W1D 5BG.


6.   The Black Cat Café and Radio Club, 55 Old Compton Street, Soho, W1D 6HW.


7.   Fight between Jack Spot and Albert Dimes, corner of Frith Street and Old Compton Street, Soho.


8.   The Admiral Duncan, 54 Old Compton Street, Soho, W1D 4UB.


9.   Compton Cinema Club, 60 Old Compton Street, Soho, W1D 4UG.


10. Murder of Constance Hinds, 66 Old Compton Street, Soho, W1D 4UH.


11. Latin Quarter, 13-17 Wardour Street, Soho, W1D 6PJ.


12. Lautrec Bar, 13-17 Wardour Street, Soho, W1D 6PJ.


13. Murder of Tony Zomparelli, 36 Old Compton Street, Soho, W1D 4TT.


14. 2i’s Coffee Bar, 59 Old Compton Street, Soho, W1D 6HR.


15. Clarkson’s Cottage, 41 Wardour Street, Soho, W1D 6PX.


16. Shim Sham Club, 38 Wardour Street, Soho, W1D 6LU.


17. Isow’s, 8-10 Brewer Street, Soho, W1F 0SD.


18. Palm Beach Bottles Parties Club, 37 Wardour Street, Soho, W1D 6PU.


19. Murder of Evelyn Oatley, 153 Wardour Street, Soho, W1F 8WG.


20. Flamingo Club, 33 Wardour Street, Soho, W1D 6PU.


21. El Condor, 17 Wardour Street, Soho, W1D 6PJ.


22. Leisure Investments amusement arcade, corner of Gerrard and Wardour Street, Soho.


23. Log Cabin, Latin Quarter, Soho.


24. Jack Solomons’ gym, 41 Great Windmill Street, Soho, W1D 7LU.


25. Windmill Theatre, 17-19 Great Windmill Street, Soho, W10 7JZ.


26. Mac’s Dance Hall, 42 Great Windmill Street, Soho, W1D 7NF.


27. Jane Goadby’s brothel, corner of Berwick Street and D’Arblay Street, Soho.








 


Working west, it was in New Compton Street (1) that the fencing master Harry Angelo saw Emma Hamilton, mother of Horatia Nelson, leaning against a post on the corner. That evening he bought her some biscuits and arranged to meet her again. He did not keep the appointment, and the next time he saw her she had graduated to living at Mrs Kelly’s brothel in the much more upmarket Arlington Street.


During the Second World War, Elliman Bah, the 6ft 4in son of a Gambian chief, was a favourite of the Colonial Office, who sponsored the Fullado Club (2), a jazz club for black servicemen that Bah owned in New Compton Street. Later, Bah, who at one time owned the very successful greyhound Bob’s Choice, rather blotted his copy book by shooting Victor Dimes, the older brother of ‘Italian’ Albert Dimes, at the Cromwell Club in Nottingham Place. He compounded this bad behaviour by shooting himself in the stomach and was charged with attempted suicide, for which the offence could be charged but not the act of suicide itself. By the time it came to the Old Bailey, things had been sorted out and he received only eighteen months for shooting Dimes. Bah’s counsel said he wanted to go back to Gambia as soon as possible and the judge more or less said it was a pity he had ever left.


New Compton Street in the 1960s and 1970s was home to a raft of ‘spielers’ – for gambling – and drinking clubs including the Premier (3), run by a man called Dave who could always be seen in carpet slippers, and his sister. It was recognised as a place where police, criminals and go-betweens could meet to ‘sort things out’. It featured in the inquiry into the conduct of the disgraced West End officer Harold Challenor over whether he had received a bribe in the club. Challenor was supported by the barrister and former police officer William Hemming who held him in high esteem, and Arthur James, who conducted the inquiry, was quite certain that Challenor had not received the bribe. Others were by no means as convinced.


Across Charing Cross Road in Old Compton Street in the nineteenth century the prize-fighter Jem Massey kept the King’s Head (4), a noted haunt for patrons of the sport of ratting. Another resident was the dwarfish shoemaker George Wombell who, in around 1800, bought two boa constrictors and started exhibiting them. His collection of exotic animals grew and, by 1810, he was able to found Wombell’s Travelling Menagerie which began to tour Britain. By 1830, there were fifteen wagons of animals which comprised, among other species, six lions, a kangaroo, elephants and giraffes. A brass band also travelled with it. He died in 1850 and is buried beneath a statue of his favourite lion, Nero, in Highgate Cemetery.


On 30 September 1843, a German, Peter Keim, was stabbed to death in Marshall Street by a one-time friend, Wilhelm Steltynor, who seems to have tried to castrate him. The inquest jury sitting at the York Minster (5), Dean Street, off Old Compton Street, was told that, when questioned by a constable, Steltynor had said somewhat enigmatically, ‘I meant to run it into Mr Keim and had it not been for the leather inside of his trousers, I should have ripped it all out.’ He was sentenced to death but the German ambassador intervened and he was reprieved.


In the middle 1920s, the magazine John Bull mounted a campaign against clubs and drinking dens run by foreigners, seeing them as living off English women whom they turned on to the streets. A large number were in Old Compton Street and John Bull had some quick success in 1926 by denouncing Francisco Sequi Canals, a Spaniard who, along with his wife Grace, ran the Black Cat Café (6). Canals was deported but not before he had written to the editor complaining of inaccuracies in the article.


There was also the Radio Club at 55 Old Compton Street (6), which John Bull thought was ‘one room rented at £8 a month where hundreds crowded in to drink after hours and most names given to the police were false’. Next door and along the street were the Movie Club, the Havinoo, the Oak Club and the Premier Club, among others.


On 10 June 1940, after Count Ciano said Mussolini was backing Hitler, the police raided the Italian Club on the Charing Cross Road and took away the waiters. There was a women’s march on Old Compton Street and windows were smashed before an Italian woman, Rose Blau, stepped in and pleaded with them, saying that Soho’s Italians were mostly British born. Shopkeepers had to put up signs such as ‘We are Swiss’ and, overnight, the Spaghetti House, which had been running for years, became the British Food Shop.


Around 3.00 p.m. in the afternoon of 11 August 1955, a middle-aged, overweight Jewish man began a knife fight with a rather fitter Italian man on the corner of Frith Street and Old Compton Street (7). The combatants were Jack Comer, the self-styled ‘King of the Underworld’, known as Jack Spot because, he said, he was ‘on the spot’ whenever the Jewish community needed him. Others said it was because of a disfiguring mole on his face. The other man was ‘Italian’ Albert Dimes, the right-hand man of Billy Hill, ‘Boss of Britain’s Underworld’, with whom Spot had once shared control of Soho’s rackets and clubs.


The fight was over the control of bookmaking pitches, and they slashed each other to ribbons before it was ended when the wife of a greengrocer into whose shop they had battled hit Spot over the head with a weighing scale. They both staggered out. Spot collapsed in a nearby barber’s shop usually frequented by his opponent. Dimes was rushed to hospital by his friends.


Both nearly died, but survived to be charged with affray. After a certain amount of chicanery, including the calling of a bent vicar by Spot to say he was the one who had been attacked, both were acquitted at their subsequent trials at the Old Bailey. However, the fight, which became known as ‘The Fight that Never Was’, marked the end of the control Spot had over the underworld and led to the rise of the Kray brothers.


At 54 Old Compton Street, the Admiral Duncan (8) was named after Admiral Adam Duncan, who defeated the Dutch fleet at the Battle of Camperdown in 1797. On 22 August 1832, a wooden-legged Irish ex-sailor Dennis Collins who was resident there was charged with high treason for throwing stones at King William IV at Ascot racecourse. Convicted and sentenced to be hanged, drawn and quartered, his sentence was commuted to life imprisonment and he was subsequently transported to Australia.


On 28 December 1881, Justin McCarthy received eight years’ penal servitude for stealing the watch of the then landlord William Gordon.


In the 1920s, the pub became a hangout for the racecourse gang led by Darby Sabini. In one of the many fights in the pub, a policeman was thrown through a window out on to the street.


By the late 1990s, the Duncan had become a meeting place for the gay and lesbian community, and on the evening of 30 April 1999, neo-Nazi David Copeland nail-bombed the pub, killing three people and wounding around eighty more. Given six life sentences, his minimum tariff was thirty years, although the trial judge spoke of his doubt that it would ever be safe to release him. On 2 March 2007, at a hearing at the High Court, Mr Justice Burton increased Copeland’s minimum sentence to fifty years, saying this was ‘necessary for the protection of the public’. Copeland’s release will not occur until 2049 at the earliest, when he will be aged 73.


On 30 October 2004, the Duncan’s bar manager David Morley, who had been injured in the bombing, was beaten to death in another homophobic attack, this time near Hungerford Bridge on the South Bank.


It was at 60 Old Compton Street that the Compton Cinema Club (9) pushed the boundaries of the ‘blue’ film, and in 1977, after a steady diet of unmemorable nude classics such as Harrison Marks’ Naked as Nature Intended, the management showed Pasolini’s Salo, or the 120 Days of Sodom. After the police raided the cinema and threatened the management with keeping a disorderly house, any scene which could possibly be construed as obscene was cut before it was shown again. The cinema later became the Londoner Cinema until, in the 1990s, it became Rainbow Cars, a gay taxi cab company. It is now in use as the kitchen for Balans Soho Society restaurant.


Just down the street, it was on 8 May 1936 that eighteen-year-old Constance Hinds, known as Dutch Leah, was killed at her flat at 66 Old Compton Street (10), beaten to death with a flat iron. No one was ever charged.


One of London’s smarter nightclubs in the 1960s was Tolaini’s Latin Quarter (11) at the Coventry Street end of Wardour Street. Upstairs was the Lautrec Bar (12) where David Knight was stabbed to death. Tony Zomparelli, the man responsible, immediately left the country and returned to his roots in Italy until he thought things had quietened down. He then returned and was given four years for manslaughter.


After his release, on the afternoon of 4 September 1974, Zomparelli was playing a pinball machine in an amusement arcade in Old Compton Street (13) – appropriately called Wild Life – when he was shot and killed by two masked men. One killer was certainly George Bradshaw, who also went under the alias of Maxie Piggott, and he named Nicky Gerard as his partner. It was said that the contract had been taken out by Ronnie Knight whose brother David had been stabbed to death by Zomparelli. Knight and Gerard were both acquitted but later Knight admitted he had been the contractor. Subsequently, he retracted the admission.


In June 1982, Nicky Gerard was shot and killed when he left his daughter’s birthday party in south-east London. His cousin, Tommy Hole, was acquitted of his murder. Seventeen years later, Hole was killed in an east London public house.


On the other side of the street, the Australian wrestlers Paul Lincoln, who appeared as ‘Dr Death’, and Ray Hunter opened their 2i’s Coffee Bar (14). It became the home of skiffle and a launching pad for performers such as Tommy Steele. Once a target of protection racketeers who attacked and slashed the doorman, the threat evaporated when they returned only to find the gigantic Hunter now on the door.


At right angles to Old Compton Street and separating it from Brewer Street is Wardour Street. Originally Wellington Street, in the late seventeenth century the street was named after Sir Edward Wardour who had land in the area.


The diminutive and eccentric theatrical wig maker and costumier William Berry ‘Willy’ Clarkson, who used to wash his own socks and recycle letters sent to him, had rooms opposite a notorious public lavatory, known locally as ‘Clarkson’s Cottage’, in Dansey Place off Wardour Street. The urinal had featured in the 1913 case of Holton v. Mead, a landmark case concerning gay soliciting. Evidence was presented and purported to show that the carrying of a powder puff by a young Welsh visitor to London could be used to establish his homosexual tendencies and so indicate his intention to solicit. When the lavatory was closed after the Second World War, it was allegedly bought by a wealthy New Yorker and installed in his garden.


For nearly fifty years, most theatre programmes in London carried the legend ‘Wigs by Clarkson’, but unfortunately he had two other undesirable professions – blackmailer and insurance fraudster – to go with his legitimate one. In all, eleven of his business premises burned down.


There were unproven allegations that, in October 1934, Clarkson had been murdered, but subsequently the dishonest solicitor’s clerk William Hobbs and the talented but alcoholic solicitor Edmond O’Connor were convicted of forging his will. They received five and seven years respectively.
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